IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

)
THE SECOND BAPTIST CHURCH OF )

HOMESTEAD, INC., a Pennsylvaria )
norprofit corporaion, DONALD P.
TURNER, RUSSELL M. FREBEMAN and
ALDINE COLEMAN,

Plartiffs

V. Civil AdionNo.

N N N N N N N N N

BOROUGH OF WEST MIFFLIN and
DENNIS BUTLER, indvidualy ard in )
his official capacity as Borough of West
Mifflin Building I nspector/Zoning
Officer/Planng Director,

Defendants

N/ N N N N N

VERIFIED CIVIL ACTION COM PLAINT
I. INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT
1. Thiscivil rights action is brought by The Second Baptist Church of Homestead, Irc.
(hereinatfter referred to as “Second Baptist”), an edablished, predominartly African-American,
religious organization, that hasbeen duy registered in Pemsylvaria as a charitable, norprofit
corporation, and Donald P. Turrer, Russall M. Freemanand Aldire Coleman, three Second Baptist
menbers.

2. Defendarts, a Pemnsylvana muncipality and a nuricipal official, have imposed substantial



legal impediments desigred to defeat Second Baptist’ s efforts to purchase and use

property in West Mifflin, belongngto Grace Christian Ministries, 1nc., for the exparsion ard
futherance of its ownchurch activities and religious rrission.

3. Asaresult of the lega impedinentsimposed by Defendants, namely their refusal to grant a
necessary occupancy permit to Second Baptist, Second Baptist’s efforts to conduct and spread its
gospd in Wed Mifflin are beingthwarted.

4. The efforts of the individual Plaintiffs to participate in and reap spiritual benefits from
church activities in West Mifflin have beensimilarly thwarted asa resut of the af orementioned legal
impedinents erected by Defendarts.

5. Grace Christian Ministries, Inc., a congregaion with apredominately White
menrbership that was issued an occupancy pernit by Defendarts in 1998 for use of its property in West
Mifflin asa church, hasentered into a contract for the sale of its property to Second Baptist.

6. The sale of Grace Christian Ministries, Inc.’s church property in Weg Mifflin to
Second Baptist camot be effectuated due to Defendarts’ refusd, without legal basis, to grant Secord
Baptist an occupancy permit for the property.

7. Defendarts' actions, policies, procedures and practices, whch are more fully detailed
in the body of this Complaint, violae Plaintiffs' civil rights, as protected by the Religious Land Use and
Ingtitutional zed Persons Act, 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc, et seq. (hereinafter referred to as RLUIPA), the
free exercise and right to assemble clauses of the First Amendmert, the equa protection clause of the

Fourteerth Amendmrent, the Civil Rights Ad of 1871, 42 U.S.C. 81983, and the equd protection



componert of Article 1, 826 of the Constitution of the Comnonwealth of Penrsylvana.

8. Through this action, Plaintiffs seeks an award of declaratory and injunctive relief, monetary
damagesand suchother relief as is necessary to ensure and dfectuete their right to purchase, occupy

and use church property inthe Borough of West Miffiin.

II. JURISDICTION

9. Thejurisdiction of this court to adjudicate Plaintiffs’ federal claims is premised
upon 28 U.S.C. 881331 and 1343, which gve federal didrict courts jurisdiction to adjudicate
federd questions, as well as authority to award appropriate relief from the violation, under color of state
law, of any constitutional right or federal statute providirg for the protection of civil rights. Additionally,
the court has jurisdiction to declare the rights of the parties to ths action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 882201
and 2202.

10. Ths court is also vested with jurisdiction to adjudicate Secord Baptist’s RLUIPA claim by
virtue of 42 U.S.C. §2000cc-2.

11. The court has perdent jurisdiction to adjudicate Plaintiffs state constitutional claim

pursuart to 28 U.S.C. 81367 (a).

III. PARTIES
12. Plaintiff The Second Baptist Church of Homestead, Inc. is a charitable, norprofit

Penrsylvania corporation. Second Baptist furctions as a recogrized Baptist church It provides



worship and other church related services to its congregation and the community at large. Secord
Baptist’ s administrative offices are curertly located at 108 W. 12" Street, Homestead, Pemsylvania.

13. Paintiff Dorald P. Turner is an adut resident of Homestead, Pemnsylvaria. His mailing
addressis 351 W. 12" Street, Homestead, Pemsylvaria 15120.

14. Paintiff Russell M. Freeman is an adut resident of Homestead, Pemsylvania. His mailing
address is 4339 Arnorhill Avenue, Homestead, Pemsylvaria 15120.

15. Paintiff Aldire Coleman is an adut resident of Allegheny Courty, Pemsylvana. Her
mailingaddress is 3003 Gilmore Avenue, Pittsburgh, Pemsylvania 15235.

16. Defendart Borough of West Mifflin is a political subdivision of the Commonweslth of
Penrsylvania existing and operating pursuant to the laws of the Comnonwealth. The certral
administrative offices of the Borough of West Mifflin are located at 3000 L ebanon Church Road, West
Mifflin, Pennsylvania.

17. Defendart Demis Butler is the Borowghof West Mifflin’s Building I nspector/Zoning
Officer/Plannng Director. Defendant Butler is beingsued in hisindividud and officid cepacities. His

business address is 3000 L ebarnon ChurchRoad, West Mifflin, Pernsylvaria.

IV. FACTS
18. Plaintiff Second Baptist Church is an established churchwith approximately 300 - 350
congegants It is affiliated with both the Penrsylvana State Baptist Convention ard the National
Baptist Convention of theU.S.A., Irc.

19. Second Baptist hes recertly celebrated its 98" anriversary of operation in Homestead, a



muricipality located in Allegheny County, Pemsylvana.
20. Second Baptist has operated fromits curert location, 108 W. 12" Street, Homestead,
Pennsylvaria, for more thanfifty (50) years.

21. Thevad mgjority of Second Baptist corgregarts are African-Arericans

22. Plaintiff Donald P. Turner has been an adive member of Second Baptist for thirty-two (32)
years. He aso serves as Second Baptist’s pastor.

23. Plaintiff Russell M. Freeman has been an adive nmember of Second Baptist for fifty (50)
years. He holds the position of Deaconfor the Second Baptist congregation.

24. Plaintiff Aldine Coleman hes beena member of Second Baptist for more than twerty (20)
years. She serves asthe secretary of the J.D. Morton Missionary Society, Second Baptists missiorary
arm.

25. Over the past few years, Second Baptist has out grownits curent home. It is urebleto
expand its mndry and/or fully serve the relig ous needs of its members in its existing facil ties.

26. Due to the inadequacy of its current facilities, Second Baptist has had to redtrict the
religious pradices of its members to those activities thet can be accommodated in its Homestead
church.

27. Members, family and friends are sometimes unable to attend and or participate incore
religious furctions, suchas weddingand fureral receptions, due to space imitations & Secord

Baptist’ s Homestead property. Furthernore, it is urable to expand its Bible study progamand it has



had to curtail plans for the developmert of ateen minstry program due to the inadequacies of the
Homestead church

28. Second Baptist was aware thet Grace Christian Ministries, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as
“Grace Christian”), a church located at 612 Coal Road in nearby West Mifflin, was experiencing
serious difficulties.

29. William Michad Altman, Grace Clristian’s minister, was fourd guilty in the Court of
Common Pleas of Allegheny County, Pennsylvania, of violating the crimiral laws of the Commonwedlth

30. Upon informetion and belief, Second Baptist all eges that numerous people lost large sums
of money as aresult of Mr. Altman’s criniral conduct.

31. In comection with Mr. Altman’ s prosecution, Judge Raynond A. Novak of the Criminal
Division of the Allegheny Cournty Court of Comnon Pleas granted a Comnonwealth Petition and
entered an Order, on or abou Noverrber 22, 2000, designed to preserve the assets of Grace Christian
and to protect the interests of Mr. Altman’svictins.

32. The above-referenced Order appoirted the law firm of Strassburger, McKenna, Gutnick
& Potter (heranafter referred to as “SMGP”) to serve as trustees of the Grace Christian property and
the Noah's Ark Child Care (hereinafter referred to as “Noah’'s Ark”).

33. Noah's Ark provides child care services in a Cristian-based religious environment. It was
approved by West Mifflin for operation in a portion of Grace Christian’ schurch buldirg as a permitted
accessory churchuse. It continuesto provide child care services at the Grace Christian property to this
day.

34. A nunmber of the people who suffered losses at Mr. Altman’s hands filed a civil suit for



damages in the Court of Comnon Pleas of Allegheny Cournty, Pemsylvana. This case is docketed at
GD 00-004055.

35. Accordirg to the ternms of a settlemert agreemert entered into by the partiesto the civil st
at GD 00-004055, Grace Chistian’s property is to be sold in order to satisfy a judgment of

$462,440.11 agreed to by Defendarts.

36. Duringthe time period in which Second Baptist was considering how best to address its
need for exparded facilities so thet it could fufil its religious mission, it learned that the Grace Christian
property in Weg Mifflin was available for sale.

37. Some of Second Baptist’ s members are residents of West Mifflin.

38. West Mifflin and Homestead, Secord Baptist’ s current home, are cortiguous
municipdities.

39. Acquistionof the Grace Christian property would provide Second Baptist with alarge
existing church building within which to conduct church business and churchrrelaed activities.

40. In addition to the church bulding, acquistionof the Grace Christian property inWest
Mifflin would provide Second Baptist with approximetely six acres of surrounding land, which coud be
used for future expangon.

41. Plantiffs would like to acquire Grace Chrigtian' s property in West Mifflinfor use in the
exercise of their religion.

42. On Awwst 23, 2001, Secord Baptist and Grace Christian ertered into an agreerment of

sale for the Grace Christian property located at 612 Coal Road, West Mifflin.



43. The agreed upon price for Grace Chrigtian’ s property was $950,000, well inexcess of the
amourt needed to satisfy the judgment entered in the civil damage action.

44. A petition for approval of the proposed sale of the Grace Christian property to Secord
Baptist was preserted to Judge Novak in comection with the state court criminal proceedings.

45. By Order dated October 12, 2001, Judge Novak approved the sale of Grace Chrigtian’s
rea property to Second Baptist.

46. Followingexeaution of the sale’ s agreement for the Grace Christian real property, Second
Baptist agreed to lease space in the Grace Clristian church buldingto Noah’'s Ark.  47. Therenta
agreement with Noah’s Ark isinfurtherance of Second Baptist’s minstry and it would permit Noah's
Ark to continue providingiits religious-oriented chid care services at its curert location.

48. Second Baptist applied for and received the necessary finarncirg to effectuate its purchese
of the Grace Chrigtian church property.

49. Although Defendarts had previously issued an occuparcy pemit to Grace Christian, a
predominartly WHhte congregation, for use of its West Mifflin property “for religious purposes,” Second
Baptist, an AfricanAmerican congreggtion, was rotified by Defendart Butler and Defendart West
Mifflin’ ssolicitor thet it must obtain its own certificate of occuparcy.

50. Second Baptist submitted an gpplication to Defendants on Juy 22, 2002 seekingthe
issuance of anoccupancy permit athorizingit to occupy the Grace Christian church property for a
“church use.”

51. Individual assessnents regarding applications for occupancy permits are mede for

Defendart Borough of West Mifflin by Defendart Butler, West Miffin’s Building I nspector/Zonng



Officer/Plannng Director.

52. Accordingto 8118.4 of the BOCA National Building Code, which hes been adopted by
the Borough of Weg Mifflin, decisions regarding applications for occuparcy perrrits must be issued
within ten (10) days of the submission of written applications.

53. State law requires thet denials of occupancy permit applications be accompanied by “a
brief explanation setting forth the reasons for said disapprova . ...” 53 P.S. 84104 (a).

54. On Septenmber 3, 2002, Secord Baptist recaved anenvelope post-marked Awgust 26,
2002, which contaired an August 16 letter sigred by Defendant Butler informing Second Baptist thet its
occupancy permit application hed been denied.

55. The letter received by Second Baptist from Defendart Butler on Septenber 3, 2002, did
not provide any basis for the denial, as required by state law, of its application to occupy ard use an
existing church property for church puposes. The letter, which is attached to this V erified Complaint

as Exhibit 1, merely states:

Y our applicationfor Occupancy for churchuse is denied. Y ou have the right
to appeal ths decisonto the Borough of West MifflinZoning Hearing Board
within thirty (30) days of receivingthis Notice. Erclosed is an application for

appeal.

56. AlthoughDefendart Butler’s letter indicated thet the necessary fonms for the filing of an
apped fromthe denid of Second Baptist’s occupancy permit gpplication were enclosed, no such forms
were actualy enclosed withthe letter.

57. Inissuing his letter dernying Second Baptist’ s occypancy permit application, Deferdant

Butler was actingin hs capacity as Borough of Weg Mifflin Building | rspector/Zoning Officer/Planning



Director.

58. Defendart Btler’s letter was issued on behalf of Defendart Borough of West Mifflin.

59. Defendart Butler’ s letter denying Second Baptist’ s occupancy pernit application was

issted in furtherance of and pursuant to the established practices and procedures of Defendant

Borough of West Mifflinand represented the officia policy of said Defendant with respect to the
occupancy of Grace Christian’s property by Second Baptist.

60. In that Defendarts had approved of theuse of 612 Coal Road as a church by Grace
Christian, a predominanty White church and denied, without explanation, use of the property for a
similar purpose by Secord Baptist, a predominartly African-American church Plantiffs believe, ard
therefore aver, that the application for an occupancy permit wasimpermssibly deried on the bags of
either race and/or religious denonination.

61. In denying Second Baptist’ s application for an occuypancy permit, Defendart Butler acted
intentionally, willfuly, outrageously and with intentional digegard for Plaintiffs' clearly established civil
rights.

62. Second Baptist has been wnable to condude its purchase of the Grace Clristian church
dueto itsinability to obtainan occupancy permit for the property.

63. On Auwgust 29, 2002, Second Baptist filed a Complaint In Mardamus in the Allegheny

County Court of Comnon Pleas and sought a peremptory judgment directing Defendants to issue the

10



requested occupancy permit.

64. The onlyisste raised in Second Baptist’'s state court pleadings is Defendants’ failure to
issue a decision regarding its occupancy permit gpplication within the ten (10) days provided for by the
BOCA Code.

65. Although one and one-half months have passed since Second Baptist filed its state court
Mandamus action, no decision has been rendered and no proceedings have been scheduled in the state
tribural.

66. Additiorelly, Second Bapti<t filed an apped fromthe denial of its occupancy permit
application with Defendarts' Zoning Hearing Board on Septenber 13, 2002.

67. The Allegheny County Court of Common Pleas has stayed al proceedings before the
Zonirg Hearirg Board pendingits disposttion of Second Baptist’s Complaint In Mandamus.

68. Noah's Ark submitted an application for an occupancy permit to Defendants prior to the
initiation of any proceeding involving Second Baptist. Throudh its application, Noah’'s Ark sought leave
to continue operation of its religioudy-orierted day care center at the Grace Christian property.

69. On or about March 20, 2002, Defendart Butler, in hscapacity as Borough of West
Mifflin Building I nspector/Zoring Officer/Planning Director, denied the occupancy permit application
submitted by Noah’ s Ark.

70. On appeal, Defendart Borowgh of Wegs Mifflin’ sZoning Hearing Board affirmed the denial
of an occypancy permit to Noah's Ark.

71. Noah's Ark appealed thedenial of its occupancy permit application to the Allegheny

County Court of Common Pless.
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72. By Opinion ard Order dated October 10, 2002, Judge Joseph M. James of the Allegheny
County Court of Comnon Pleas held that: “[ The property sought to be purchased by Second Baptist]
isto be used for church purposes. The day-care activity is an accessory use ard is pernitied as a
matter of right.” Judge James reversed the decision of the Zoning Hearirg Board and sustained Noah's

Ark’ s appeal.
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73. Following the entry of Judge James Order inthe Noah's Ark appeal, Second Baptist's
lawyer contacted Defendarts' solicitor and irmguired as to whether Second Baptist woud be issued an
occupancy permit in light of the state court’ s rding

74. Defendarts’ solicitor informed Second Baptist’ s lawyer thet Second Baptist woud not be
issted an occupancy permit and that an appeal woud be filed from Judge James' Order.

75. Judge James' Order sustaining Noah's Ark’ s appeal from the denal of anoccuparcy
permit has, itself, been appealed by the Borough of West Mifflin ard or the West Mifflin Zoning
Hearing Board.

76. Second Baptist has no informeation regardingwhen its state cout mandarrus action will be
addressed by the gate tria court.

77. Defendarts’ refusd to issue Second Baptist an occupancy permit has prevented Second
Baptist from occupying existing church property in the Borough of West Mifflin.

78. Thelack of an occupancy permit substantialy impedes and limits Second Baptist’ s ability
to pursue its religious mssion and to minister to the commurity & large

79. By preventing Second Baptist fromoccupyirng the Grace Christian church, Defendants
have restricted the members of Second Baptist to thosereligious practices and activities thet canbe
accommodated by Second Baptists' inadeqate facilities in Homestead.

80. Second Baptist is unable to meet the spiritua needs of its members and the community
through an expanded Bible study program and a teen minstry due to Defendants’ refusa to dlow it to

usethe Grace Christian property.
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81. The individual Fantiffsdesireto have fadlities in Wes Mifflin within and from which they
can worship, engage in churchbusiness ard spread the gospel to potential rew members.

82. Many of the churchactivities that Plaintiffs would conduct at the West Mifflin ste are
central to Second Baptist’ s religious mmission.

83. Deferdants’ actiors, policies practices and procedures also serve to deprive West
Mifflin s residents of worship and other religious opportunities thet would be provided inthe community
by Secord Baptist.

84. Since the property at issue hasalready been gpproved for use by a churchand was, in
fact, used as such, there would be no additional burdento Defendarts from use of the property as a
church by Second Baptist.

85. Defendants have acted under color of state law at al times relevant to the metters set forth
inthis Complaint.

86. Second Baptist believes, and therefore avers, that Defendart Borough of West Mifflinis
therecipient of federal finarcial assistance.

87. Plantiffs have suffered ireparable ifjury as a direct and proxinete resut of Deferdants
conduct, policies, practices and procedures, as described above

88. Asadirect and proximete resut of Deferdants' above-described conduct, policies
practices and procedures Plaintiffs have been conrpelled to divert resources, energy, manpower and
funds fromthe pursut of ther religious calingto efforts to erforce their right to purchase church

property in and exterd their religous activities to the Borough of West Mifflin.
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89. M aintiffs will continue to incur the injuries described inthe previous paragrapts urtil such
time as their rights are vindicated.

90. Furthermore, Second Baptist is being charged ard ispayinginterest ontheloan it has
secured for the purpose of purchasing Grace Christian’ s property in West Miffiin.

91. Defendarts’ corduct, policies, practices and procedures as described above, have
caused, and continue to cause Plaintiffs and its Second Baptist congregation, generally, to suffer from
anxiety, distress, uncertainty and discomfort.

92. Asthe sde of the Grace Chrigtian property is required in order to compensate the victins
of Mr. Altmari s criminal conduct, Defendants’ refusal to issue anoccupancy pernitto Second Baptist
al9 serves to prevent runmerous crime Mictins from recovering their losses.

93. Thereis no adequete remedy at law through which Plaintiffs can expeditiously establish ard
enforce Second Bapitists' right to occupy the property in West Mifflin it has contracted to purchase and

therr right to freely exercise therr religoninWest Mifflin.

V. LEGAL CLAIMS
COUNTI -RELIGIOUS LAND USE AND
INSTITUTION ALIZED PERSONS ACT
(SECOND BAPTISTv. BOROUGH OF WEST MIFFLIN)
9. In generd terns, the Rdligious Land Use and I nstitutionalized Persons Act prohibits
governnental entities from imposing or implamenting land use regulations in a manrer that substartially

burders the exercise of religion unless the regulations are the least restrictive means of advarcinga

compelling governmerta interest. 42 U.S.C. §2000cc (a)(1).

16



95. Additionally, RLUIPA mekesiturnawfu for governmental entities to enforce land use
regulations in such away asto discriminate “ against any assenbly or institution onthe basis of religion
or religious denomiretion” 42 U.S.C. §2000cc (b)(2).

96. Second Baptist has been aggrieved by the conduct, policies, practices and procedures
described above.

97. Defendarts’ above-described condLct, policies, practices and procedures violate Secord
Baptist’ s rights, as secured by RLUIPA, in that said conduct, policies, practices and procedureshave
prevented Second Baptist fromlocatingand corducting protected religious ectivities in the Borough of

Weg Mifflin.

COUNT 2-42 US.C. §1983 (FREE EXERCISE)
(ALL PLAINTIFFS v. ALL DEFENDANTYS)

98. Defendarts’ above-described corduct, policies, practices and procedures substantially
burden and interfere with Plairtiffs' right to freely exercise therr religon inviolationof the free exercise

clause of the First Amendment to the United States Conditution.

COUNT 3-42U.S.C. §1983 (RIGHT TO ASSEM BLE)
(ALL PLAINTIFFS v. ALL DEFENDANTS)

99. Defendarts’ above-described corduct, policies, practices and procedures substantially
burdenand interfere with Plaintiffs' right to peaceably assamblefor the purpose of engagingin
protected religious activity, in violation of the right to assemble clause of the First Amendment to the

United States Conditution.

COUNT 4 - 42 U.S.C. §1983 (EQUAL PROTECTION)
(ALL PLAINTIFFS v. ALL DEFENDANTYS)

100. Defendants above-described conduct, policies, practices and procedures amount to

17



unlawfu discrimretion in that they serve to restrict the avalability of property and prevent

Plaintiffs from occupying property in the Borough of West Mifflin onaccount of the race and/or
religious affiliation of Plantiffs and the members of Second Baptist, generally, in violaion of theequal

protection clause of the Fourteerth Amendrrent to the United States Conditution.

COUNT 5 - ARTICLE 1, §26 OF THE CONSTITUTION
OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA (EQUAL PROTECTION)
(ALL PLAINTIFF v. ALL DEFENDANTS)

101. Article 1, 826 of the Pemsyivania Constitution provides as follows:

Neither the Comnonwealthnor any politica subdivision thereof shell deny to
any person the erjoynent of ary cwvil right, nor discriminate against any
person in the exercise of any civil right.

102. Defendants above-described conduct, policies, practices and procedures amount to
urlawful discrimination in that they serve to restrict the avalability of property and prevert Secord
Baptist fromoccupying property in the Boroughof West Mifflin onaccount of the race and/or religious
affiliation of Plaintiffs and the members of Second Baptist, generally, in violation of the equd protection

componert of the Constitution of the Comnonwealth of Penrsylvania.

VI. PRAYER FOR RELIEF
Wherefore, Plaintiffs request that the court:
1. Exercise jurisdiction over this action;
2. Issue an gppropriate declaratory judgment to the effect that Defendants have violated the

Religious Land Use and I nstitutionalized PersonsAct, the free exercise and right to assermble clauses of
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the First Amendrent, the equd protection clause of the Fourteerth Amendrrent and Avrticle 1, 826 of

the Penrsylvania Constitution;

3. Enter prdiminary ard permanert injurctive orders directing Defendarts to issue Secord

Baptist an occuparcy permit to use the property at 612 Coa Road, West Mifflin, for all reasonable and

ordinary church purposes, forthwith, and prohibiting Defendarts from otheiwise interfering with the civil

rights of Plaintiffs and Second Baptist’ s members;

4. Award appropriate compensatory damages in favor of Plaintiffs and aggirst Defendarts;

5. Award punitive damages in favor of Second Baptist and against Defendant Btler;

6. Direct Defendants to pay dl of Plaintiffs attorneys fees and costs associated withthe

preparation and prosecution of this action; ard

7. Grart such other relief as the court deems to be just and equitable.
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